
October 27, 1999 

.. . 

Jeffrey J .  Parker, Trcosnrer 
Inglis for Senate Committee. inc 
3 Ben Street 
Cireenville, SC 29601 

!.:E: tmrc  4847 
fnglis I'OI Senase Committee, Inc., and 
Jeffrey J. Parker, as treasurer 

Dear Mr. Parker: 

Or, November 3, 199S, the Federal Election Commission notified inglis for Senate 
Committee, Inc., ("Committee") and you, as treasurer. o f s  complaint alleging violations of 
certain sections of'the Federal Election Campaign Aci OF i(r71. as amended ("the Act"). A copy 
of the compiaint was forwarded to you at that time. 

Upan further review ofthe allegations contained in the complaint. and information 
provided by yon, the Commission, on Cctober 21, 1594, found that there is reason to believe the 
Committee and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. $4 432(h), 434(bj(3)(B), 434(b)(5)(A), 
provisions oftfie Act, and 11 C.F.R. 9 103.3(a), a provision ofthe Commission's regulations. 
The Factual and Legal Analysis. which formed a basis for the Chrnniission's findings is attached 
fur your information. 

You may submit any factual or legal inaterials that you believe are relevant IO the 
Commission's consideration of t h i s  riiatrer. Please submit such materials to the General 
Counsel's Oftice within 15 days or  receipt of this ietrer. Where appropriate, statenients shodd be 
submitted uncier oath. ln  the absence of additional infi)r:nation, the Goinmissioii niay find 
probablz cause to believe that. a violation tias occurred and proceed with conciliation. . 

In order to expedite the resohiion oftlris matter. the Commission has aiso decided to 
offer to enter inta negotiations directed towards reaching a conciliation agreenient in  settienwrit 
oi'this matter prior tn a finding or probable cause to belitwe. Enclosed is a conciliation 
agreement that the Contmissioii ha:; approved. If you :w interestcd iii  expediting the rcsolririori 
of this niatler by purs~iing preprobab!c ciliisc conci2iatiui1. and i t '  yoti agrec with ihc pro\,isioils 0 1  
the enclosed agreenxnt, please sign and rctum the agrecnaenl, along with the civil pcnalty. 10 thc 
Commission. In light ofthe fkt  that conciliation negotiations. prior IO ;1 finding of probable 
cause to believe, are limited to a maximum o f 3 0  days. you should respond to i l k  notification as 
soon as possible. 
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Ikquests for estensioiis of  time will nut hi: routineiy grailtd. ltcqucsts must be niadc in 
writing a: least r ive days prioi. to ti-~c dw iiute oi'the icq)onse ;rnd spccific gooci ciliise must be 
dcmonsirated. In addition. the W5c.c of"the Gcnc:raR Counsel ordirrarily will not give ckteiisions 
beyorid 20 days. 

If you interid to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Gornmissioii 
by completing the enclosed fmn stating the name, address, md telephone number of such 
counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other corplniuaiicatkms 
fiom the Commission. 

This matter wii! remain confidential in accordance with 2 U.S.C. $0 437g(a)(4)(B) a id  
43'7g(a.)( 12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made 
public. If you have any questions, please contact Eric Brown, the staff member assigned to this 
matter, at (207) 694-1656, 

Sincerely, 

Scott E. Thomas 
Cktirrnaii 

Enclosures 
Designatior; of Counsel Form 
Factual Legal .4naiysis 
Cmciliation Agreenieiit 

cc: Robert D. fngiis 
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FACTIJ AL A PI 11 LEGAL AN A L k’S BS 

RESPONDENTS: Ingiis Cor Scnate Coininittee. Inc. i:nd M:m: 4847 
.. , Icffrey J .  Parker, as !reasu:er 

Tiiis matter was generated by H cornpi::int filed with the Federal Election Commission hy 

Ric,hard Harpootlian. $e5 2 U.S.C. $437g(a)(I 1. 

1. I_-- ~~~~~~~~~~~N~ 

?he complaint, filed oil October 29, 1998, akges t13,a? the inglis for Senate d‘ommittee, 

3nc. and Jeffrey J. Parker, i~? treasurer (the “Cornniittee” or “ing,!is Coinrnittee”), failed to report 

contributions from political committees and filed incomplete disclosure reports. 

11. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALY8I.S 

P,. & 

The Federal Eiecdo;i Campaign Act of 1 VI.. as amecded (the “Act”), requires priricipal 

campaign committees to file perindie reports of receipts and disbursements. 2 U.S.C. 8 434(a). 

Reports frled under the Act must identify each political coinniiEtee which makes a contribution to 

the reporting committee during the repoiqiiig period, in addition !,a the date and amount of the 

contribution. 2 U.S.C. ;F 134(S)(3)(Is). Reports shalj disclose the name and address of each 

person io whom an expenditure in an aggregate amount or value in excess of$200 within the 

ciilcirdar year is ~noctc by tlie reporting comniittec to ill<cI ;i curiclitiatc or corninitfee o p e r a h g  

expense, including the date. arnouiit, md purpose of such operating expenditure. 2 U.S.C. 

Q 434(bj(,5 j(A), i\uthorizcd pelilicai cairiniidrees arc required to identit’); each pokticd 

conirnit‘tee contributing to it on the report covering the period during which the contribution was 

received. I 1 C.F.R. # 104,3(a)f4)(ii). Contribution includes “(i) any pili. subscription, loan. 

advance, or deposit of money or anything ofvraiuc made by m y  person for the purpose of‘ 



influencing ;in>' rlcclioii f b r  Federal o i h :  o r  ( i i )  the payrr~eni by m y  person ot'coinpciisaiioii lin 

tlic perswal services of another person wiiich are rendered tu a puiiticai comIiiiitce without 

c!iarge tor any impose." 2 U.S.C. i; 431(8)(A;ti) ~lnd i i )  and 1 I C.F.R. 

kind contribution shall be reported as a C O l l ~ r ~ b i i K ~ O i l .  1 1 C.F.R. 6 104.13(a)( 1 ). and an 

expenditure, I 1 C.F.R. 9 104.1 3(a)(2). 

lO~0.7(aj( I ) .  -. iiach . irr- 

The Act requires every person receiving a contribution for an authorized political 

commitlee, to forward such contribution with its date of receipt to the treasurer no later than ten 

days after receiving such contribution. 2 1J.S.C. 5 432(b)(1) and 1 I C.F.R. $ 102.8(a). The date 

of receipt is the date thzt a person who receives LI coiitrihtion for an authorized political 

committee obtains possession ofthe contribution. I i C.F.R. $ 102.8(a). foliticzl committee 

recei,pts shall be &posited in a dcposi!.oay designated by that coxmiittee. 2 U.S.C. 4 432(b). 

"All receipts received by such. coinmiliee shall be depmiited in such XWUR~S.  '' 2 [J.S.C. 

5 432(h)(1). AH deposits shalf be made within ten days ofthe iwasurer's receipt ofthe 

contdwtioii. I f C.I'.Ii. 4 IO-3.3(a]. C'on?irlis:;li?r~ rcguia!ioris prwidc t k t 1  rcccip!.~ : h d ~  hc 

deposited pursuant to I 1  C.F.R. 5 iO3.2, cxccpt that any contribution may be returned to the 

contributor without being deposited within ten days ofthe treasurer's receipt. t I C 

fi !03.3(a). 

A refurded contribution is witieil the recipient committee first deposits the check and later 

sends the contributor a check for ali or pabf of the contribulron. A returned conKriburion i s  wlieii 

ihc recipient conmiittee sends the original chcck hack to tlic conirihutitr u izhout dcposi!iug i t .  

1 1 C.F.R. 5 103.3(a). Conamittees returning irndeposiled contributions tu duiiors ~ i ( I i i n  ten days 

ofthe treasurer':; receipt incur no reporhg obligation. 1 'I C.F.R. $ 103.3(a). Fedcral Election 
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I .  'The Cornniaint 

The complaint alleges that the Committee failed to follow requirements governkg the 

reporting of receipts and thc handling of pO~i!iCil! cornrnittee contributions.' According to the 

complain!, Tripperware PAC repohed a July 3 I ,  1998 $1,000 contribution to the Ingiis 

Committee, but the lnglis Cornmittee did nat repofl the contribution or its refund. 'The 

complainant provides a newspaper a M e  quoting a campaign spokesperson as snying that there 

were additional PAC checks awaiting to bc rrturncil. 

The coI3plahi further alleges thzt Committee: reports omitted required itemization. With 

respect to the Committee's 1998 July Quarterly Report {covering May 21, 1998 through June 30, 

9981, the complaint alleges that the Committee failed 10 itemized $"1_0,485 in disbursements. 

The clrsrnplairat also alleges that the Committee's 1908 12 Day Pw-General Report failed bo 

include an itemization of contributions from political committees totaling $4,000. 'The complaint 

sequcsts i: Commission investigarion. the highest civil penalty allowed by law. and an audit of 

the Committee. 'The C:omn:ittee responded to the cornplaistt on Xovembeer 20, 1998. 

2. :Tile ResDonSg 

a. Handling oi' h l i t i cd  C'ontmittce CDieck,s 



Committee is shorter than Ibe contributing PAC's clisciosure reports reflect. In the case of  ihe 

reported contributions by T~ippcnvare PAC, thc Pairnetto Leadership PAC, and the National 

Electrical Construction ?.K, the Cuniniittce contends &iat there was a significant discrepancy 

between the chcck date arid the dare t.hat ii PAC octuaIEy sen! or &livered the chcck to the Inglis 

its 1998 July Quarterly Report covering May 21, 1998 through June 3C, 1998. 'I'he response 

concedes that the Cornniiitee delayed sending the required disbursement schedules. The 

response states that this Senate campaipi was tiic candidate's first statewide race:' and resulted iia 

ii large amount of activity. especially during the last six months of the campaign. According to 

the response. the Committee's software, recordkeeping, and accounting burdens were 

' Akhough the text ol'the response ideiitifies nixteeii I'ACs, Atlacliiiieiir A to tl ic response actually lists iiine:eeii 
PAC checks toraiirig S23.OQO. Six additional contributions appear 011 llie public record, however. Three oftlie 
contributiori:; arc koin [lie Air Prodiicts ai?d Cheinicals PAC ($1,000 on September 14. 1998). Cuidaiit CorporatIoii 
PAC ($1.000 o n  October 13. 1998). a d  Wal-Mart Stores. inc. PAC ($5.000 on September I I. 19c)8). .I'Iie IIirce 
othx sontributions arc io-kind political coiirnrittcc confriixiiioiis npparenily riiiidc :a the Comrniwe. Coutriburions 
IIoin rlrc N;irioiiol Cli;iriibcr A1li;iiice fo!. IWi$ics ($920.02 o i i  0clol)cr 73. I998 iiilid S;%16.')3 011 No\  einbcr 3 .  I1!N I 
atid riic Nnrional T;tnpnyers l l i i ion Campnigii Fuiid ($!, i 60 oii Uctclkr ZX. 1908) were reportcdl) iii;ide ;is in-kind 
contributions. yet the higiis Coiiimittee Faiied :o disclose i!ie reccipt af tlicse in-kind contributions. which iotnlcd 
$2,547.R6. 

' liiglis was ;I successtiil US. House candidate I n  Soiitli Carolina's Fourth Coiigressianal Distrlc: in 1992. 1W-I. snd 
I096. 



not he rc;idy by i ts .luly 15th dcacilinc. tlic Irc:rsur'cr lint! to clioosc hei\vcen tiling the complctc 

report iate or filing a partial report with the itemized disbursements to follow.' 

.. . 

c. Itemization of%4,000 in Contributions from Authorized Political Committees 

in response to the complaint's allegation that the Comrnittec's 1998 12 Day Pre-General 

Report failed to itemize $4,000 in contributions in suppwt of Line 1 I(c). the Con-tniittee 

contends that the page itemizing the contributions was included with the report and was 

apparently missing f r m  the corrtplaimant's cop:. The original copy ofthe report in the U.9 

Senaic's Office of Prrhiic Rccords, howevcr, also does W E  iriclude the Scfxdtile .4 t'or Line 1 1 (c)  

This matter wises !,bur issues: :he Comniiiiee's 17,aindling o f  political corimltiee checks, 

the failure to report the receipt of in-kind contributions. !he itemization of disbursements, and the 

itemization of $4,000 in contributions from authorized political committees. 

1. Ian_dling. of Political Committee Checks 

At issue is the Committee's hantliiilg of 22 contributions totaling E30.900. I n  addition to 

tile 19 checks totalii;g S23.000 listed En the response, the public record reveals three additiorial 

The response S I I I ~ S  ?hat the Coniinitree tiled the disburseti:ent irstometiori 01% diily 78. iW8  aiid t l i a ~  !lie 
Commission could not have reviewed the report or inquired as IO the status of tiir schcduiss hefore such date. Tire 
rcsponse iirJtes that the public knew from the origi:m! Mtng the dotal amo~lnf ot'disbursemerais. a5 the f<gii~e is listed 
01: the Derailed Siimoinry Page of h e  report. 



_.. ' :  . .  I _- ~. . .. . . . .  
: L, 

requircd by Comniission vegulniions. two datc:i mus t  be con:pmed. -l'hr first cantroliing &tie is 

the masurcr's dale of receipt. Fur the 10 chcclcs idcntificd in !lie response, tile "letter date" is 

pnwitlcti. 

possession. the date of'zi letter accompaiiying the check, or the date of the postinark of ihe 

envelope containing the check. For purposes ofthe Act and Commission regulations, the receipt 

date is the date i h t  a person who receives a coiiiribntion for an authorized political commit!ee 

obtains possession ofthe contribution. 11  C.F.R. 4 102.8(a). Section 103.3(aj, however, 

provides that a contribution may be returned within te:> days of the treasurer's receipt. 'fherefore, 

the "'letter' date '' provided in the rccspunsc is acceptabie as the i:reasu:'er's date ofreceipt for the 

"tctlcr c!atc" q~pitrciitly relL.rs 1.0 Ihc dale ihc check cant iiiio 111c ~rci~st~rcr 's  
... . 

ciiccks at issue. 

The second coiitroilin: dale is the date that :he Inglis Committee returned the clrcsks. 

The response provides the Certified 1L:ail Defivcry Receipt for riiiieteen ofthe returned chccks. 

Thert~forc, the earlier of the postmark dste or liic Date ofDe6lvery was used as the date each 

contribution was returned. 

Based on the above analysis, possibly IS poliit~al comrnirkx checks totaling 9;20..500 

were not returned within Len days, w!~ik sevcn of the 22 checks were returned within ten days. 

As the Coinmittee concedes, and this Oftice's review of the response and other public 

information confirrus, political committee contribut.ion checks received by the Committee were 

not deposited or returned within tei? d q s .  'fherefcm.:, there is reason to believe tha: the luglis fbr 

SC~LI IL '  Committee. Inc. ami Jeffrey J. l'xkcr. ;IS crcasurcr. violated 7- U.S.C. 9 432(h) and 

I I t'.F.K. 4 103.3(a). 
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2. Failnrc IO licoort t!ic I<ccciyt 01' In-kind ('onlrihutioi>s 

'I'ime otlici. contributions q!pcar oil tlic piibiic record  hat vr:crc 1\01 idcntilicd in the 

response. These contributions were rcportcd as  in-kiud contributions !>y tlic contributing 

committees, yet the llngiis Commiitee failed to disclose their receipt o:i its disclosure reports. 

Contributions from the National Chamber Alliance for Politics ($920.92 on October 23, I998 

illld $566.93 on November 3, 1998) aiid the Narlo:ral TaXpdyerS L'nion Campaign Fund ($1,160 

on October 28, i 990) were reportedly nia.de as in-kind contributions, yet the Inglis Committee 

failed to disclose the ~rceipt of these in-kind conliibutio!:rs, which maied $2,547.86. The in-kind 

contributions were apparentiy neither returned KIOC refunded; the Committee failed to report these 

contributions. Therefore, thesr i s  reawn to helleve that the ingtis for Senate Committee, hc.. 

and Jeffrey J.  Parker, cis treasurer. vialated 2 U.S.C. $ 434(b)(3j(D). 

.. . 

3. jkinization o f  Disbvrsements 

'The conipiaint asserts that the hgiis Conmitree's 1998 July Quarterly Report failed to 

include an itemization of di.sbursctnents. On July 15, 1998, the Committee filed the Summary 

Pnge, Detailed Summary Page, and receipt schedmks for this report, The Detailed Summary 

Page of this report listed $220,485 i n  operating expenditures. Supporting disbursement 

schedules for this amount were filed on July 28, 1998, 13 days after the origins1 report was filed 

and due. 

The response asserts several reasons for The pariiai fiiing: new computer software: 

different interim! recoriikceping dcmands that required iiiorc wo 

trained staff. 'l'hc response iiotes thui the omissioii oft.lie scl~cdiiies was quickly correctcd. the 

rirost signilicant part of the rcpciri was tiinely fi!ed. and. from thc (.'omrnittce's perspective the 

delay apprars immaterial. 

1nd the q?parent lack of 
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'Ilie Act and C:oiimissi.on regalations. 2 0 .S .C ' .  4 4.34(a)(2)(A)(iii) and I 1 c ' . I . ' . iZ .  

4 IO.S.S(a)( l)(iii)(Bj, r q u i r e  reports LO be coinplctc i s  ( ~ I ' t k  last day ol'thc rcport's covc~igc 

iinte. l 'hc (.:ninmittee \\.as (!IC priiicipai cnmp,iign cuminilt.cc h r  il calldiciaie l'w U.S. Scni~tc. 

(;onscqiiently,  he I908 July Qunrteriy Ilepu:t shilli'ltl i ~ t v e  been conlplete as of thc last day  of  

the immediately preceding quarter. June 30, I9?8. tltrtvever, !he Committee's report failed to 

include itemization for operathg expenditures during the reporting period. *l'lierefore. there is 

rcason to believe that. tile Lzaglis foof Senate Colnmittez. !IX. a l i i  Jel'fk:s.ey J. Parker. as treasurer. 

violated 2 U.S.C. $434(,b)i5)[A). 

-. . 

4. i&mizalion o f % t t & j  Contribuiic>ns from Authoiize_il Political Co:nmittees 

The conigiaint alleges that the Committee f d c d  to itemi'x $4.000 in contributions on i ts  

I998 12 Day Pre-General Report. Tile response to the complaint enclosed a copy of the 

Schedule A allegedly filed wit11 the report.' 'The copy ofthe report im fiie with the 

Commission's Public Rec.orcis Division, however. is missing $Xiis page. I'lic original copy of the 

report filed with the U.5. Sendte's Offcc of Pukilic Records and the copy ofthe report filed with 

the South Carolina State E.iection Commission are also missing this page. Furthermore. RAD 

sent the Commitlee a Request for Addi:ior~rrl iiiibrmatlon ("RFAI ") datcd i>ccemhc~ 8. I OOS and 

Second 'Notice dated Jamary 7, I9Y9 tinat referenced the missing Schedule A. a id  instrt?c[ed thc 

Cnmmittee that contributions From other authorized coinmittecs n i ~ t  bc itcmized pirrsuant to 

1 i C.F.R. tj 104.3(a)(4)(ii). Therefore, there is reason to b,:lieve that iiiglis for Senate 

Committee. Inc., and Jeffrey J .  Parker. as trcasurcr. vioizted 2 U.S C. 434(b)(3)(13). 


